RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-24-2014**

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2013AP002859-CR Appeal No. 2013AP002860-CR

ANDREW L. JACKSON,

Defendant- Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION MOTIONS, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. MEL FLANAGAN PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ZELL LAW OFFICE, LLC
ATTORNEY MICHAEL D. ZELL
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT
STATE BAR NO. 1031931
1052 MAIN ST., STE. 206
STEVENS POINT, WI 54481
(715) 952-5030
michaeldzell@michaeldzell.com

ISSUE PRESENTED
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE4-9
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATES
APPENDIX23
TABLE OF AUTHORITIESPAGE
<i>STATE V. HARVEY</i> , 2002 WI 93, 647 N.W.2D 189, 254 WIS.2D 44219
<i>STATE V. IMANI</i> , 2010 WI 66, 326 WIS.2D 179, 786 N.W.2D 40 11, 12, 13
<i>STATE V. KLESSIG</i> , 211 WIS.2D 194, 564 N.W.2D 716 11, 12, 13, 15, 16
<i>STATE V. NELSON</i> , 2014 WI 70 (OPINION FILED JULY 16, 2014)20
<i>STATE V. PICKENS</i> , 96 WIS.2D 549, 292 N.W.2D 601 (1980)11, 14
<i>ARIZONA V. FULMINATNTE</i> , 499 U.S. 279, 111 S.CT. 1246, 113 L.ED.2D 302
(1991)
<i>INDIANA V. EDWARDS</i> , 128 S.CT.2379, 171 L.ED.2D 345, 554 U.S. 164
(2008)
DROPE V. MISSOURI , 420 U.S. 162, S.CT. 896, 43 L.ED.2D 103 (1975)
DUSKY V. UNITED STATES, 362 U.S. 402, 80 S.CT. 788, 4 L.ED.2D 824
(1980)

<i>FARRETTA V. CALIFORNIA</i> , 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.CT. 2525, 45 L.ED.2D 562
GODINEZ V. MORAN , 509 U.S. 389, 113 S.CT 2680, 125 L.ED.2D 321 (1993)17, 18
JOHNSON V. UNITED STATES, 520 U.S. 461, 137 L.ED.2D 718, 117 S.CT. 1544 (1997)
MCKASKLE V. WIGGINS , 465 U.S. 168, 79 L.ED.2D 122, 104 S.CT. 944 (1984) 20
NEDER V. UNITED STATES, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.CT. 1827, 144 L.ED.2D 35
(1999)

ISSUES PRESENTED

Issue 1: Whether the circuit court improperly assessed Jackson's lack of preparedness and allegedly "episodic driven" request to represent himself to deny his waiver of the right to counsel.

Issue 2: Whether Wisconsin's standard for evaluating a defendant's competency to represent himself, contained in *Klessig* and other cases is unconstitutional in light of more recent U.S. Supreme Court precedent. *See State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis.2d 194, 203, 564 N.W.2d 716, *See also Indiana v. Edwards*, 128 S.Ct.2379, 171 L.Ed.2d 345, 554 U.S. 164 (2008).

Issue 3: Whether denial of the defendant's right to represent himself results in structural error warranting automatic reversal.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant believes that publication is warranted because he is asking for application of federal constitutional law to overturn state precedent, which would have an impact on circuit court procedures in the future.

The appellant believes that the written briefs of the parties will sufficiently address the issues, and oral argument will not be necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

Jackson was charged in Milwaukee County case number 2011 CF 2437 with several serious felonies resulting from a domestic incident which occurred between Jackson and his wife, Priscilla Martinez, on May 28, 2011. The criminal complaint states that Jackson poured boiling liquid on Martinez and slashed her arms with a large butcher knife. (2A:1-2).¹

Jackson appeared for an initial appearance on June 3, 2011. Martinez did not appear for the preliminary hearing, and it was adjourned. (47A:1,5). The State asked for a material witness warrant for Martinez on July 6, 2011, when she did not appear a second time for the preliminary hearing. (49A:5). Martinez appeared voluntarily on July 7, 2011, in response to that warrant, and was released on a signature bond. (50A:3).

The preliminary hearing occurred on July 12, 2011. At the preliminary hearing, Martinez testified she did not recall how she received her injuries.(51A:5). Jackson was bound over for trial. The matter was scheduled for trial and final pretrial. (51A:17-18).

The parties appeared in court several times for final pretrial hearings on September 8, 2011, September 29, 2011, and October 4, 2010. (52A; 53A; 54A). The

4

¹ In these consolidated cases, the records will be referred to as (A) for 2013AP2859, and (B) for 2013AP2860. The circuit court clerk has chosen the (A) record as the primary record, and most of the documents are contained in that record.

trial was adjourned on October 10, 2011, because defense counsel was involved in a homicide trial which had been adjourned from a prior week. (55A:5). Jackson's case was scheduled for trial again on January 3, 2012, but both the defense and the prosecution requested an adjournment on the day of trial. The defense had a new witness it had not previously disclosed to the prosecution. The prosecution informed the circuit court that it might file new charges of witness intimidation against Jackson, and the prosecution did not want to proceed with the trial until those charges were filed. (56A:3-7).

Jackson also asked for his attorney to be removed and replaced on January 3, 2012. According to Jackson, his attorney was not providing him with information about the case or communicating with him about strategy. The Court granted Jackson's request to remove his attorney. (56A:23).

On January 17, 2012, Jackson was not produced for the hearing, but a new attorney was present and informed the circuit court he had been appointed to represent Jackson. (57A:2). The prosecutor also informed the court that he issued four new charges against Jackson for alleged witness intimidation. (57A:3).

An initial appearance for the new witness intimidation charges was held on January 24, 2012 in Milwaukee County case number 12 CF 230. (38B) The criminal complaint charged four counts of felony witness intimidation.(2B) The criminal complaint detailed lengthy phone calls allegedly placed by the defendant, Jackson, to the victim, Martinez. (2B).

Several hearings were held on January 27, 2012, February 2, 2012, and February 21, 2012, at which time consolidation of cases and other issues were discussed. (58A; 59A; 60A)

The preliminary hearing for 2012CF230 was held on March 7, 2012. (39B). Jackson was bound over after testimony from two law enforcement witnesses. (39B:28) At the conclusion of that hearing, defense counsel informed the court that Jackson wanted him to withdraw as his attorney. (39B:29) The circuit court set a date to consider joinder of cases as well as the defense attorney's motion to withdraw.

On April 24, 2012, the parties appeared for the scheduled motion hearing. (61A). Defense counsel asked to withdraw from representing Jackson, and informed the Court that "I don't believe that we are able to – myself and Mr. Jackson to ever communicate to a level that's necessary for adequate representation of Mr. Jackson." (61A:3-4) After a lengthy discussion of the issues between Jackson and the Court, the Court denied defense counsel's request to withdraw. (61A:9) Jackson immediately informed the Court that he wanted to represent himself. (61A:13) The Court told Jackson that he had to "prove to me that you have prepared everything you need to prepare and that means a lot." (61A:14) The Court further told Jackson that he would need to write out questions for each witness and write out an opening statement. (61A:14) The Court told Jackson that they would talk about it "another time" and Jackson could then "show me how prepared you have become and whether you have done what you need to do to be able to represent yourself." (61A:17-18)(emphasis added). Finally, the Court told Jackson that "I need told to me exactly

what you're going to say to the jury on voir dire when we select a jury.". (61A:32) The Court told Jackson that they would talk about him representing himself at the next hearing. (61A:32)

At the next hearing, on July 17, 2012, Jackson was not produced for the hearing. His defense attorney waived his appearance at that hearing. (62A:3) Defense counsel reminded the Court about the Court's request that Jackson provide some proof that he was capable of representing himself. Defense counsel noted that he did not believe the Court's request was appropriate. (62A:4) However, defense counsel noted that he would be willing to review the defendant's preparation and inform the Court whether the defendant was prepared, rather than require the defendant to provide materials to the Court. (62A:4) Both defense counsel and the district attorney made it clear that they believed Jackson would not plead guilty but wanted to proceed to trial. (62A:5-6) The Court did not decide the defendant's motion to represent himself at this hearing, but scheduled another hearing for August 15, 2012, three days before the scheduled trial date of August 20, 2012. (62A:8)

The parties next appeared in court on August 17, 2012. The Court engaged Jackson in a discussion regarding his request to represent himself. (63A:6-15) The Court asked Jackson whether he was prepared to address the motions in the case, particularly a constitutional issue. (63A:10) Jackson informed the Court he had just received the motion while he was sitting in court. (63A:10-11) Jackson complained that his attorney had not assisted him with subpoening his daughter as a witness for

trial. The Court noted Jackson's custodial status, and said "I can't make it easier for you.". (63A:11) The Court focused on Jackson's custodial status as the basis for its decision to deny his request to represent himself. (63A:13)

The parties appeared in court again on August 20, 2012. At that time, Jackson pled guilty to four of the charges against him. (64A:10-14). Other counts were dismissed and read-in. After a colloquy with Jackson, the circuit court accepted Jackson's pleas (64A:31).

Jackson was subsequently sentenced to a total of 35 years of imprisonment, comprised of 20 years of confinement and 15 years of extended supervision. (17B).

Jackson filed a postconviction motion on September 19, 2013. That motion included an affidavit from Jackson's counsel indicating that Jackson informed counsel he would not have pled guilty to the charges if the Court had allowed him to represent himself. (33A, 27B). On September 23, 2013, the Court issued a briefing schedule requiring the State and defense to file briefs. (35A). The State and defense both filed briefs in response to the circuit court's briefing schedule.

On December 3, 2013, the circuit court issued a decision and order denying the motion to withdraw the guilty pleas. The Court believed that the defendant's requests to represent himself were "episodic driven" and that the defendant was incompetent to represent himself. (42A:2)

On December 23, 2013, Jackson filed a notice of appeal from the entire final judgment and the denial of his postconviction motion. (45A). On January 15, 2014, Jackson also filed a motion in the Court of Appeals requesting that the Court

determine non-waiver of an issue the circuit court declined to address, specifically, the constitutionality of Wisconsin's standard for assessing a defendant's competency to represent himself. (44). The Court of Appeals issued an order dated January 30, 2014, in which the Court remanded the matter to the circuit court to allow Jackson to seek clarification from the circuit court regarding the issue. (67A). Jackson was ordered to file a motion for reconsideration in the circuit court no later than thirty days from the date of the Court of Appeals' order remanding the matter. (44A; 66A).

On February 24, 2014, the defendant filed a motion to reconsider and supplemental postconviction motion. (68A). Jackson filed this supplement to his original postconviction motion to address, and avoid potential waiver, of the argument that the Wisconsin standard for competence to represent oneself is unconstitutional under U.S. Supreme Court precedent. (68A).

On February 27, 2014, the circuit court issued an order for supplemental briefing. The State's response was due on or before April 2, 2014. The defendant's reply was due on or before April 16, 2014. (69A). The parties filed briefs as ordered.

On April 2, 2014, The State's response to defendant's motion to reconsider and supplemental postconviction motion/brief was filed. On April 22, 2014, the circuit court issued a decision and order denying Jackson's supplemental postconviction motion. (72A).

Pursuant to the Court of Appeals January 30, 2014, order, the matter was transferred back to the Court of Appeals for further appellate proceedings.

ARGUMENT

Plea withdrawal is warranted because the Court refused to allow Jackson to represent himself, a constitutional right, for improper and insufficient reasons. Jackson thus entered a plea because he did not believe his attorney would adequately represent him at trial and was told he would not be allowed to represent himself. As a result he entered guilty pleas which were involuntary, unknowing, and unintelligent. These circumstances created a manifest injustice and structural error.

The circuit court in this case denied Jackson's request to represent himself without considering whether his waiver of counsel was valid or whether he was competent. Instead, the circuit court focused on Jackson's preparedness, a factor which is not a valid consideration. The circuit court gave significant weight to the fact that Jackson did not receive a motion in advance of the trial, possibly due to the lack of communication by his appointed counsel, and Jackson's inability to subpoena a witness due to his custodial status. In addition, the Court failed to make the decision about Jackson's request to represent himself well enough in advance of trial to provide him with sufficient notice that he would need to prepare for trial. Under these circumstances, denial of Jackson's request to represent himself was improper, a

serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the proceedings, and a structural error mandating reversal.

Finally, to the extent that the circuit court based it's decision on Jackson's competence, the Wisconsin standard for assessing a defendant's competency to represent himself is unconstitutional under existing U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Even under the existing Wisconsin standard, Jackson was competent.

ISSUE 1: IMPROPER WAIVER CONSIDERATIONS

While a criminal defendant has a fundamental right to the assistance of counsel, he also has the constitutional right to represent himself. *State v. Imani*, 2010 WI 66, ¶ 20, 326 Wis.2d 179, 786 N.W.2d 40 (citing *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed. 2d 562 (1975), and *State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis.2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997)). There is recognized tension between the right to the assistance of counsel and the right to represent oneself. *Imani*, at ¶21. In fact, the right to counsel is so important that "nonwaiver is presumed." *Imani*, at ¶ 22, quoting *State v. Pickens*, 96 Wis.2d 549, 555, 292 N.W.2d 601 (1980).

Yet criminal defendants who waive the right to counsel and are competent to represent themselves have the right to do so. Two conditions must be met for a defendant to exercise the right to self-representation: (1) knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver, and (2) competence to proceed *pro se. Imani*, at ¶21 (citations omitted).

In *State v. Klessig*, the Wisconsin supreme court established a mandatory colloquy for use by circuit courts to establish a defendant's valid waiver of counsel. 211 Wis.2d at 206. "If the circuit court fails to conduct such a colloquy, a reviewing court may not find, based on the record, that there was a valid waiver of counsel." *Imani*, at ¶ 23 (*citing Klessig*, 211 Wis.2d at 206). In order to grant a defendant's request to represent himself, the court must conduct a colloquy to determine:

- 1. The defendant made a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel.
- 2. Was aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation.
- 3. Was aware of the seriousness of the charge or charges against him.
- 4. Was aware of the general range of penalties that could be imposed on him. *Imani*, ¶ 23. (*quoting Klessig*, 211 Wis.2d at 206).

Imani and *Klessig* presented opposite scenarios on the waiver of counsel analytical framework. *Imani*, ¶ 25. In *Klessig*, the defendant appealed the circuit court's decision which *allowed* him to represent himself. *Id.* at ¶24. In that situation, when the court allowed the defendant to represent himself, the full *Klessig* colloquy was mandatory due to the recognized importance of the right to counsel.

Defendant Imani, on the other hand, appealed following the circuit court's denial of his request to represent himself. *Id.*, at ¶25. Right to counsel issues are not present in *Imani*, as the focus is on the denial of the right to self-representation. In *Imani*, the Wisconsin supreme court scaled back the *Klessig* language mandating a colloquy with every request for self-representation:

Under *Klessig*, as long as the circuit court finds that one of the four conditions is not met, the court cannot permit the defendant to represent himself. We do not impose on circuit courts the requirement of placing form over substance and using "magic words" when the reality of the circumstances dictate the answer. *Imani*, at ¶ 26.

The Court also explained that

The circuit court engaged Imani in two of the four lines of inquiry prescribed in Klessig and properly determined that Imani (1) did not make a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, and (2) was unaware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation. If any one of the four conditions prescribed in Klessig is not met, the circuit court is required to conclude that the defendant did not validly waive the right to counsel. *Imani*, at ¶ 3.

Jackson concedes that his case fits the *Imani* side of the framework, and thus the circuit court is not required to conduct a complete *Klessig* colloquy. According to *Imani*, if waiver should be denied on *any* of the four factors presented by the colloquy, it is unnecessary to conduct a full colloquy. But in Jackson's case the circuit court did not conduct a colloquy on any of these factors. The Court's decision during the trial proceedings focused on Jackson's lack of preparedness for a motion hearing. The Court's written decision denying his postconviction motion changed that focus to the asserted "episodic driven" nature of the request. (42A:2). According to the Court, Jackson's desire to represent himself was motivated by impulsive decision making rather than a deliberate choice to represent himself. (42A:2).

The circuit court's written decision thus denied Jackson's request on the first *Klessig* factor, lack of deliberate choice. According to the court, this was an impulsive decision by Jackson. Yet Jackson made this request at least three times between March and August. Jackson first made the request to represent himself immediately after the preliminary hearing, and made the request every time he

appeared in court. On the one occasion he was not produced, his appointed attorney made it clear that Jackson still wanted to represent himself.

Despite the circuit court's focus on the first *Klessig* factor, the court also reiterated in the written decision that the decision was based on "the complexity of these cases, his attitude and demeanor and his thorough unpreparedness for trial." (42A:2). The circuit court made no attempt to support this rationale with any recognized legal authority. There is no basis to deny Jackson's request to represent himself for these reasons.

In addition to lack of any colloquy or clear decision making, the circuit court did not decide the defendant's request to represent himself until three days before trial. The circuit court must address motions such as these within a reasonable time before trial. As the record shows, the circuit court first told Jackson he would have to show the court that he could be prepared for trial by showing the court his preparation materials. Jackson was then not produced for a hearing at which time the issue was supposed to be addressed. Finally, the circuit court denied Jackson's motion to represent himself only three days before trial.

ISSUE 2: COMPETENCE

Competence to represent one's self is different than competence to stand trial. State v. Klessig, 211 Wis.2d at ¶23 (affirming State v. Pickens, 96 Wis.2d 549, 292 N.W.2d 601 (1980). Assessing competence to represent one's self requires evaluating factors like intellectual ability, education, literacy, fluency in English, physical and psychological ability. Klessig, at ¶ 24. Jackson asserts that he was and is competent to represent himself, and that the Pickens / Klessig rule violates his sixth amendment to self-representation.

In the wake of the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Indiana v. Edwards*, the viability of Wisconsin's standard for assessing competence to stand trial is questionable at best. *Indiana v. Edwards*, 128 S.Ct. 2379, 171 L.Ed.2d 345, 554 U.S. 164 (2008) Prior to *Indiana v. Edwards*, Wisconsin's standard for competence to represent one's self was almost certainly unconstitutional. Existing precedent prior to 2008 required that a defendant competent to stand trial also be found competent to proceed pro se. But *Indiana v. Edwards* ruled that states may impose a higher standard to protect *those with severe mental illness. See Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 178. Wisconsin's standard does not address the limited issue of mental illness, but rather intelligence and other personal characteristics. The ruling in *Edwards* thus requires the conclusion that Wisconsin's standard for competence to represent one's self is unconstitutional under the sixth and fourteenth amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

Wisconsin cases addressing this issue specifically note that the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions preserve identical rights. "Just as the right to the assistance of counsel is identical under the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions, the right to represent oneself also does not differ." *Klessig*, 211 Wis.2d 194, 203, 564 N.W.2d 716. Wisconsin cases also make it clear that Wisconsin's standard for determining competence to proceed pro se is a higher standard than

competence to stand trial. *Imani*, 2010 WI 66, ¶ 36 (citing **Klessig**, 211 Wis.2d at 212). According to the Imani court:

"In determining whether a defendant is competent to proceed pro se, the circuit court may consider the defendant's education, literacy, language fluency, and any physical or psychological disability which may significantly affect his ability to present a defense." *Imani*, 2010 WI 66, ¶ 37 (citing *State v. Pickens*, 96 Wis.2d 549, 569, 292 N.W.2d 601 (1980)).

This standard is unconstitutional, because it is higher than the standard set by the United States Supreme Court. In 2008, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the constitution does not forbid States from insisting upon representation by counsel for those competent enough to stand trial but who suffer from severe mental illness to the point where they are not competent to conduct trial proceedings by themselves. *Indiana v. Edwards*, 128 S.Ct.2379, 171 L.Ed. 345, 554 U.S. 164 (2008). The impact of the ruling is that defendants who are not severely mentally ill must be found competent to represent themselves. Because the Wisconsin standard allows the circuit court to consider literacy, fluency, and physical disabilities, as well as because it fails to define the degree of mental disability required to forbid self-representation, it is unconstitutional under the *Edwards* standard.

In *Edwards*, the defendant specifically requested that he be allowed to represent himself at trial, arguing that his mental competence to stand trial was all that could be required to also find that he was also competent to represent himself. *Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 168-9. On appeal, Edwards argued that *Farretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562, required that he be found competent to represent himself if he was merely competent to stand trial. *Id*. The Indiana Supreme Court agreed with Edwards, and the State of Indiana then asked the U.S. Supreme

Court to review the standard for competence to represent oneself at trial. *Edwards*, 422 U.S. at 169.

The *Edwards* court considered the two significant lines of precedent framing competence to represent oneself at trial. On one end of the analysis is the right of a defendant to be competent during trial. *Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 170 (citing *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402, 80 S.Ct. 788, 4 L.Ed.2d 824 (1980) and *Drope v. Missouri*, 420 U.S. 162, S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975)). On the other end of the analysis is the right to represent oneself at trial. *Id.*, (*citing Farretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562).

As the *Edwards* Court pointed out the right to self-representation is not absolute. 554 U.S. at 171. Yet the *Edwards* Court also noted that the States may not impose significant restrictions on a competent defendant's right to represent himself. In *Godinez v. Moran*, the U.S. Supreme Court previously ruled a defendant's competence to waive his right to counsel was not higher than the *Dusky* standard for competence to stand trial, when the defendant wished to plead guilty without the assistance of counsel. See *Edwards*, at 171 (*citing Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389, 113 S.Ct 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993)).

Edwards has provided a very narrow limitation, *severe mental illness*, as the only allowable limitation for not finding competence to represent oneself when the defendant is mentally competent to stand trial:

That is to say, the Constitution permits States to insist upon representation by counsel for those competent enough to stand trial under Dusky but who still suffer from severe mental illness to the point where they are not competent to conduct trial proceedings by themselves. *Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 179.

Wisconsin's standard allows a circuit court to consider literacy, fluency, physical disability, and other things in deciding whether a defendant is competent to represent himself. Edwards does not allow the State to limit a defendant's right to represent himself for lack of competency except when there is a showing of "severe mental illness." Wisconsin's rule, expressed in Klessig, Pickens, and Imani, is unconstitutional under the U.S. and State Constitutions.

The circuit court issued a one-paragraph decision denying Jackson's motion to reconsider. (72A). The circuit court's analysis of *Edwards* led it to decide that states are allowed to adopt a higher standard of competency than the federal minimum standard. This is not the holding of *Edwards*.

There is no evidence that Jackson was suffering from severe mental illness at the time he made the request to represent himself. The court never conducted an inquiry to determine Jackson's level of intelligence or ability to represent himself. The circuit court's only assessment in this regard was to decide that Jackson was not competent to represent himself because he was not prepared enough for a motion or for the trial, and because the cases were "complex." (42A:2)

The U.S. Supreme Court's rationale in *Dusky*, relied on in *Edwards*, included this pertinent observation:

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