RECEIVED

10-23-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

Case Nos. 2013AP2859-CR and 2013AP2860-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDREW L. JACKSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM ORDERS DENYING
POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN
MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE
HONORABLE MEL FLANAGAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN
Attorney General

NANCY A. NOET
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1023106

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857
(608) 261-5809
(608) 266-9594 (Fax)
noetna@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT JACKSON WAS NOT COMPETENT TO REPRESENT HIMSELF NOT ONLY BECAUSE HE HAD NOT MADE A TRULY DELIBERATE CHOICE TO DO SO, BUT BECAUSE HE WAS UNABLE TO DO SO GIVEN HIS LIMITATIONS AND THE COMPLEXITY OF HIS UPCOMING TRIAL.

Because in most situations a defendant would be better off with counsel than without, the right to counsel is “regarded as one of the most significant elements of due process.” *State v. Imani*, 2010 WI 66, ¶ 21, 326 Wis. 2d 179, 786 N.W.2d 40 (citations omitted). In fact, the right to counsel is so important that nonwaiver of that right is presumed. *Id.* ¶ 22 (citations omitted).

Nonetheless, a circuit court must permit a defendant to proceed on his own if “the defendant (1) has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived the right to counsel, and (2) is competent to proceed pro se.” *Imani*, 326 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 21. If, however, the court concludes that either of these two requirements is not satisfied, it “must prevent the defendant from representing himself or deprive him of his constitutional right to the assistance of counsel.” *State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 203-04, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997).

When a defendant seeks to represent himself, a court may not find that he has made a valid waiver of his right to an attorney unless the court conducts a colloquy to ensure that:

[T]he defendant: (1) made a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, (2) was aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation, (3) was aware of the seriousness of the charge or charges against him, and (4) was aware of the general range of penalties that could have been imposed on him.

Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d at 206 (citation omitted). Should the court find that a defendant has failed to satisfy any one of these criteria, however, a full colloquy is not necessary because:

[A]s long as the circuit court finds that one of the four conditions is not met, the court cannot permit the defendant to represent himself. We do not impose on circuit courts the requirement of placing form over substance and using “magic words” when the reality of the circumstances dictate the answer.

Imani, 326 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 26.

“An improper denial of a defendant’s constitutional right to self-representation is a structural error subject to automatic reversal.” *Imani*, 326 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 21 (citations omitted). Unless a circuit court’s decision that a defendant is not competent to act as his own attorney is “totally unsupported by the facts,” a reviewing court will uphold that determination. *Id.* ¶ 19 (citations omitted).

The circuit court in this case properly denied Jackson’s request to represent himself. Despite his requests to go to trial pro se, Jackson also kept asking the court for permission to contact his mother about hiring another attorney. He did take issue with the attorney he had, but his primary complaint was that he did not feel he

was able to contact his attorney as easily or as frequently as he would have liked.

The record also demonstrates that Jackson failed to understand how his circumstances affected his ability to represent himself at trial. In court, he complained about his limited access to legal materials and the restrictions on his mail and telephone privileges, but still claimed that he was ready for trial. When the court warned him about the pitfalls he faced, he again said he was ready for trial. Although the circuit court gave Jackson months to prepare himself, he was never able to show that he was in any way able to try a case that the court aptly described as complex.

The circuit court properly considered all of these factors in deciding that Jackson was not competent to represent himself:

A judge who, having explained the consequences [of proceeding without counsel], finds the defendant doesn't understand them is entitled to conclude that although competent to stand trial, the defendant has not made an effective waiver of his right to counsel and therefore may not represent himself.

Brooks v. McCaughtry, 380 F.3d 1009, 1012-13 (7th Cir. 2004).

Jackson did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel, and he was not competent to proceed without counsel. *Imani*, 326 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 21. Under the circumstances, the circuit court was required to prevent him from representing himself at trial. *Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d at 203-04.

II. WISCONSIN'S STANDARD FOR EVALUATING A DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY TO REPRESENT HIMSELF IS CONSTITUTIONAL UNDER *BROOKS* v. *MCCAUGHTRY*, AND *INDIANA* v. *EDWARDS*.

In Wisconsin, a defendant's competency to represent himself is subject to a higher standard than his competency to stand trial. *Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d at 212. The difference makes sense:

Surely a defendant who, while mentally competent to be tried, is simply incapable of effective communication or, because of less than average intellectual powers, is unable to attain the minimal understanding necessary to present a defense, is not to be allowed to go to jail under his own banner.

Pickens v. State, 96 Wis. 2d 549, 292 N.W.2d 601 (1980), *overruled on other grounds* by *Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d at 206 (internal quotation marks and quoted source omitted).

This higher standard comports with federal case law addressing the question. In *Brooks*, the Seventh Circuit rejected the same claim that Jackson makes in this case: that Wisconsin's higher standard is unconstitutional because the standard for competence to stand trial must be identical to the standard for competence to proceed without counsel:

But Brooks argues that in *Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389, 113 S.Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993), the Supreme Court held that the standard for competence to stand trial and the standard for competence to waive counsel are identical, and if [Brooks'] interpretation . . . is correct, it might seem to follow that we must order a new trial for Brooks. But we doubt both the premise and the conclusion.

Brooks, 380 F.3d at 1011 (citations omitted). The Seventh Circuit noted that the *Godinez* court also held that “states are free to adopt competency standards that are more elaborate than” the standard provided for competence to stand trial in *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402 (1960), even though “the Due Process Clause does not impose these additional requirements.” *Brooks*, 380 F.3d at 1012 (citing *Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389, 402 (1993)).

The Seventh Circuit held, therefore, that Wisconsin’s competency rule under *Pickens* and *Klessig* was consistent with *Godinez*:

[E]ven if the standards for competence to stand trial and for competence to waive the right of counsel are the same, the existence of an effective waiver need not be automatically deduced from a finding that the defendant is competent to stand trial. This would be obvious if having determined that the defendant was competent to stand trial the judge had asked the defendant whether he wanted a lawyer but had not explained the consequences of going to trial without one.

Because being competent to stand trial and having waived the right to counsel do not require the same information, and because the former competence does not imply an effective waiver in all cases, we do not think Wisconsin’s approach violates the rule of *Godinez*.

Brooks, 380 F.3d at 1011.

In *Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164 (2008), the United States Supreme Court reached a similar conclusion. First the court explained that:

Godinez involved a State that sought to *permit* a gray-area defendant to represent himself. *Godinez*’s constitutional holding is that a State may do so. But that holding simply does not tell a State whether it may *deny* a gray-area defendant the right to represent himself – the matter at issue here.

Edwards, 554 U.S. at 173 (emphasis in original). Then the court ended any remaining confusion about a state’s ability to establish a higher standard for evaluating a criminal defendant’s competency to represent himself:

We now turn to the question presented. We assume that a criminal defendant has sufficient mental competence to stand trial (*i.e.*, the defendant meets *Dusky*’s standard) and that the defendant insists on representing himself during that trial. We ask whether the Constitution permits a State to limit that defendant’s self-representation right by insisting upon representation by counsel at trial – on the ground that the defendant lacks the mental capacity to conduct his trial unless represented.

Several considerations taken together lead us to conclude that the answer to this question is yes.

Edwards, 554 U.S. at 174.

The Supreme Court concluded that its prior cases, including *Godinez*, “suggest (though they do not hold) that an instance in which a defendant who would choose to forgo counsel at trial presents a very different set of circumstances, which in our view, calls for a different standard.” *Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 174-75. The court also found that “the nature of the problem before us cautions against the use of a single mental competency standard for deciding both (1) whether a defendant who is represented by counsel can proceed to trial and (2) whether a defendant who goes to trial must be permitted to represent himself.” *Id.* 175.

While *Edwards* involved a defendant who suffered from a mental illness that impacted his competency to represent himself, the opinion is not, as Jackson argues, limited to criminal defendants who have mental illnesses. The above-quoted passages clearly have broader application to defendants found to lack mental capacity to represent themselves, as courts in other jurisdictions have recognized. See *People v. Taylor*, 220 P.3d 872, 882-83 (Cal. 2009) (interpreting *Edwards* as authorizing states to

deny the right of self-representation to defendants who lack “mental health or capacity” to conduct their own defense), and *State v. Connor*, 973 A.2d 627, 633 (Conn. 2009) (interpreting *Edwards* to apply to “mentally ill or mentally incapacitated” defendants). Not surprisingly, Jackson has not cited a single case that has adopted his restrictive reading of *Edwards*.

Wisconsin may well have been ahead of the curve when it adopted a higher standard for evaluating a defendant’s competency to represent himself, but that standard is constitutionally sound.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this court should affirm the circuit court’s denial of Andrew Jackson’s motions for postconviction relief, as well as his judgments of conviction.